
 

     
 
SENT VIA EMAIL  
 
Email: jalbert@historyassociates.com 
 
July 12, 2024 
 
Mrs. Jessica Albert 
History Associates  
7361 Calhoun Place, Suite 310  
Rockville, MD 20855 
 
 Re: Freedom of Information Law (“FOIL”) Tracking No. 2023-094572 
 
Dear Mrs. Albert: 

 
I write in response to the FOIL request that you submitted to the New York State Department of 

Financial Services (“Department”) on April 14, 2023, which has been assigned the above-referenced 
tracking number and requests:  

 
1.          All documents and communications, both written and electronic, sent between 
January 1, 2023, and March 12, 2023, exchanged between DFS staff, including, but not 
limited to, staff of the Banking Division, Consumer Protection and Financial 
Enforcement Division, Capital Markets Division, Cybersecurity Division, and Research 
and Innovation Division, and staff of the following federal and state agencies: 

a.            U.S. Department of the Treasury 

b.            Office of the Comptroller of the Currency 

c.            Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation 

d.            Securities and Exchange Commission 

e.            United States Federal Reserve System 

f.            National Economic Council 

g.            U.S. Department of Justice Office of the Attorney General 
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h.            California Department of Financial Protection and Innovation 

2.            That refers, relates, or discusses the stability of, or concerns or questions about 
risks related to Signature Bank Corp., 

3.            Or refers, relates, or discusses Signature Bank Corp. and digital assets (For 
purposes of this request, the term “digital asset” means an asset that is issued and/or 
transferred using distributed ledger or blockchain technology, including, but not limited 
to, so-called “cryptocurrencies,” “coins,” and “tokens”),  digital-asset products or 
services, digital-asset companies, or other digital-asset related activities. . . 

During our meeting on November 30, 2023, we discussed the broad nature of your request and 
asked that you narrow the request to reduce the amount of time it would take for the Department to 
respond to your request.  By letter dated January 22, 2024, you narrowed your request to seek the 
following:  
 

[E]lectronic communications and documents originating from or addressed to the following 
DFS officials: 

• Tanuja Mohapatra, Special Advisor to the Superintendent for Strategic Initiatives 
• Peter Dean, Acting General Counsel 
• Shirin Emami, Executive Deputy Superintendent, Banking Division 
• Adrienne Harris, Superintendent 
• Jack Lo, CFA, Virtual Currency Supervision Manager 
• Thomas Eckmier, Deputy General Counsel (Cyber, Capital Markets, and R&I) 
• Nicole A. Murray, MBA, CAMS, Virtual Currency Financial Crimes Director 
• Peter Hoffman, Deputy Director of Legislative Affairs 
• Allison Passer, Deputy Director of Enforcement, Consumer Protection 
• Arnob Bhattacharyya, Director, Virtual Currency Supervision 
• Trevor Collins, Virtual Currency Data Governance Director 
• Max Dubin, Special Counsel to the Superintendent on Policy 
• Allie Gold, Deputy Special Counsel to the Superintendent on Policy 
• Polly Kylce Pennoyer, Special Counsel to the Superintendent for Policy 
• Alyssa Albreada, MBA, Virtual Currency Financial Crimes 
• J. Joan Hon, Assistant Deputy Superintendent, Virtual Currency Unit 
• Debra Brookes, Deputy Virtual Currency Chief 
• Jon Blattmachr, Virtual Currency Chief and Assistant Deputy Superintendent 
• Peter Marton, Deputy Superintendent, Virtual Currency 
• Joanne Berman, Deputy Superintendent, Cybersecurity Division 
• Madeline Murphy, Assistant Deputy Superintendent for Consumer Protection 
• Kathryn Taylor, Senior Assistant Deputy Superintendent for Consumer Protection 
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• Alison Passer, Deputy Director of Enforcement, Consumer Protection 
• Kevin R. Puvalowski, Senior Deputy Superintendent for Consumer Protection 
• Laura C. Sarli, Senior Assistant Deputy Superintendent, Enforcement 
• Kaitlyn Asrow, Executive Deputy Superintendent, Research and Innovation 
• Gille Ann Rabbin, Assistant Counsel, Cybersecurity Division 
• Juliet Robinson, Director, Research & Innovation Division 
• Nick Krafft, Senior Advisor, Research & Innovation Division 
• Mariya Komartsova, Virtual Currency Research & Innovation Division 
• Carla Varriveau, Chief Actuary 

Please limit the search to include electronic documents and communications originating from 
or addressed to the above DFS officials and any staff from only the following federal 
agencies: 

 
a. Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (email domain: @fdic.gov) 
b. United States Federal Reserve System (email domain: @frb.gov) 
c. Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (email domain: @occ.treas.gov) 
d. U.S. Department of Justice Office of the Attorney General (email domain: @usdoj.gov)  

 
Finally, please use the following search terms when performing the search for electronic media 
responsive to my request: 

• Signature Bank 
• Signet 
• (“Signature” & “bank”) 

 
The Department has records responsive to your FOIL request including, but not limited to, 

emails, memoranda, drafts, and notes pertaining to Signature Bank that were exchanged between and 
among employees of the Department and federal agencies mentioned in your FOIL request.  Hereinafter 
the “responsive records”. For the reasons set forth below, your request is denied.  

 
Public Officers Law § 87(2)(a) 

 
The Department is withholding the responsive records pursuant to Public Officers Law                        

§ 87(2)(a), which specifically exempts from disclosure records exempted by a state or federal statute.  
The applicable statutory provisions are N.Y. Banking Law (“Banking Law”) § 36(10).  Specifically, 
Banking Law § 36(10) states, in pertinent part, that reports of examinations and investigations and 
correspondence and memoranda concerning or arising out of such examinations and investigations are 
confidential and shall not be made public.  The statute fosters open communication between the 
Department and its regulated institutions, a necessity for effective regulation of financial institutions, by 
ensuring that records transmitted to the Department in connection with its supervision of a financial 
institution are protected from disclosure.  The responsive records mentioned above were transmitted to 
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or created by the Department in connection with the Department’s supervision of Signature Bank and 
are, therefore, required to be kept confidential and exempt from disclosure under Banking Law § 36(10). 
 

In recognition of the importance of coordinated oversight of jointly supervised banks, New York’s 
Banking Law § 36.10 specifically protects banking supervisory material exchanged between the 
Department and other banking regulators.  It states as follows: 

 
For the purposes of this subdivision, “reports of examinations and investigations, 
and any correspondence and memoranda concerning or arising out of such 
examinations and investigations”, includes any such materials of a bank, 
insurance or securities regulatory agency or any unit of the federal government or 
that of this state any other state or that of any foreign government which are 
considered confidential by such agency or unit and which are in the possession of 
the department or which are otherwise confidential materials that have been 
shared by the department with any such agency or unit and are in the possession 
of such agency or unit. 
 

Joint supervision of these banks would not be practical or even possible without the high level of 
confidentiality afforded by Banking Law § 36.10.  

 
Conclusion 

 
For the reasons mentioned above, your FOIL request is denied.  Notwithstanding this denial, 

please see the attached report concerning the Department’s supervision and closure of Signature Bank. 
 
Pursuant to Public Officers Law § 89(4), you may appeal this Determination within 30 days by 

sending an email to FOIL.Appeals@dfs.ny.gov. 
 

Very truly yours, 
 
 
Pascale Jean-Baptiste 
FOIL Officer 

  

mailto:FOIL.Appeals@dfs.ny.gov











































































































